Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1965

Del S. Ashworth and Joe H. Ashworth, D/B/A Ashworth Architects, A Partnership v. Gene Glover, D/B/A Genie Boys : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for compensatory damages for unlawful conversion and unauthorized use of architectural drawings and ideas belonging to the Appellants and for punitive damages for theft and wilful misconduct for unlawful conversion and use of these valuable property rights.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The court granted judgment for the Defendant and then denied the Appellants' (Plaintiff below) motion for new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellants seek an order to amend the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree to conform to the facts proven and an order to enter judgment for the Plaintiff; or, in the alternative, Appellants seek a reversal of the judgment below and an order remanding the case to the lower court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1960 Appellants, an architectural firm, designed a building to be used as a drive-in restaurant for Allen's Products, Inc., operator of a chain of drive-in restaurants called Hi-Spots or Hi-Spot Drive-Ins. The plans for this building were entirely unique and creative, involving new combinations of structural materials, color, dimensions and other architectural features in such a way that it was to be easily distinguishable from any other building. In preparing the plans, the Appellants also made extensive studies to achieve a design which would be economical and at the same time fit the particular aesthetic and commercial needs of a drive-in chain. Illustrative of the many distinctive features of the design was the large double-diamond roof, purposely designed in this unique fashion so it would become a symbol of the Hi-Spot Drive-Ins to the public.

Upon completion, the Appellants permitted a small number of copies to be used by Allen's Products and its building contractor and subcontractors in constructing the Hi-Spot Drive-In in American Fork, Utah, since this is customary practice among architects and was necessary to the construction of the building. To assure that the plans would be returned and that their use would be limited to this particular building each contractor desiring to bid on the project was required to post a \$25.00 deposit with the Appellant to be given back when the plans were returned.

The testimony of the parties to the original contract is that it was on the A.I.A. form which contains a clause providing that ownership of the plans is to remain in the designer. Allen's Products recognized this when, in 1961, they asked Appellants to design another building in Spring-ville, Utah, similar, but with certain modifications, to the Hi-Spot in American Fork. The Appellants followed the customary architectural practice, in dealing with established clients, of reducing the fee inasmuch as the original design could be revised for the same client.

In 1962, Respondent was considering beginning a drivein restaurant business. Learning fom Owen G. Richardson, an employee of Allen's Products and a long-time friend of the Respondent, that a copy of the Hi-Spot plans could be obtained, he got the plans from Richardson, who was then manager of the American Fork store, copied them in detail, and later returned them. All of this was done without asking for or receiving authority from the architects, even though Respondent was an experienced building contractor who was acquainted with the customs of the construction industry.

Not long after the plans were copied, Respondent finished a drive-in restaurant at approximately 7200 South

State, Salt Lake County, Utah, which is almost identical to the Hi-Spot Restaurants, both as to appearance and as to structural design and measurements. Respondent admits that he used the copied plans to draft the plans from which he constructed his building and that a great many of even the small details were copied and incorporated into the building. He also admits that the only architect he used did not design the building (TR 29-30).

Sometime after Richardson helped the Respondent get possession of the plans, he went to work for the Respondent as Manager of the new drive-in on 7200 South State, with the expectation that the employment would develop into a business relationship with Respondent (TR 19, 11, 13).

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

The unauthorized use of architectural plans is not a subject which has been frequently litigated in this country; indeed, this is a case of first impression in Utah. The basic conduct, nevertheless, has the ring of the familiar to it. Is this not merly a repetition of the classic lawsuit in which something of value has been taken from its lawful owner without his consent, then used to the personal advantage of the taker without just compensation of the owner?

In this case, the owner happens to be the creator of the valuable object. He makes his living principally by preparing original ideas for use by his clients in the form of plans and specifications. The ideas, in their tangible form, are valuable not only because they are original, but because they have been put into a useful, technical form without which it would be impossible to reproduce the building.

The simple facts are that the Respondent needed a proven design for his business, liked the Appellants' plans, took them and copied them. He never wanted, sought, nor obtained permission. The fact that Respondent got "permission" from his friend Richardson cannot relieve him of responsibility. Since the plans belonged to Ashworth Architects and carried their name, it was not Richardson's right to allow Respondent to take the plans, particularly since he knew why the plans were being taken (TR 15).

Not only was Richardson utterly without authority to give away Appellants' plans; even if he had possessed this authority, his actions were suspect in view of the fact that Richardson expected to go into business with Respondent at the time he delivered the plans (TR 19) and there is considerable evidence of a fraudulent conspiracy to pirate the plans (TR 11, 12, 13). This is not a case of an innocent oversight by a novice to the building world; this was a wilful, brazen conspiracy by an experienced professional contractor and his "inside man" to purloin a proven commercial design, the creative work product of another, without the usual necessity of giving just compensation to its creator.

There is nothing inequitable about expecting Respondent to pay for what he uses. In the classic case the solution is simple: the wrongdoer is required to fully compensate the owner and maker of the valued object for its use. This is what Appellants ask for today; and this is what justice and equity demand.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE COURT IS CONTRARY TO LAW AND THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE UNSUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

POINT II

THE COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE ERRONEOUS AND IN DIRECT CONTRADICTION TO THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE COURT IS CONTRARY TO LAW AND THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE UNSUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Contrary to the decision of the lower court, the Appellants respectfully contend that they are the owners of the plans, specifications, ideas, design and artistic concepts from which the Respondent, Glover, constructed his building and on the date the Respondent obtained and copied the plans prepared by the Appellants, the Appellants had a copyright to the plans. There is no competent evidence to the contrary, and, in addition to the testimony of Dell S. Ashworth, there is other sustantial and believable evidence to this effect (Exhibits 1, 2 and 3).

The only real issues of law before the Court today are as follows:

Do the Appellants have a common law copyright in

the ideas, concepts and artistic originations which it sells by reason of its architectural license?

- 2. Have the Appellants lost their common law copyright by publication?
- 3. What, if any, are the damages of the Appellants? Addressing ourselves to the first two propositions, it is respectfully contended that these matters are settled by the cases of Smith vs. Paul, 174 Cal. App. 2d 744, 345 P2d 546, 77 ALR 1036, and Edgar H. Wood Associates, Inc. vs. Skeen, et al, Advance Sheets of the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts (1964). These cases are the latest pronouncements on the subject in the United States. Both cases analyze in detail the previous cases, and the substance of both cases is to the effect that the architect retains a common law copyright and that filing its plans with the City Engineer or the zoning board or any other public agency does not constitute a publication of its copyright so as to lose it. Both cases further stand for the proposition that constructing a building does not constitute a publication nor a license to any third party to appropriate the said plans and specifications. It should be noted in passing that both the Smith case and the Wood case are cases of first impression. The Appellants set forth the salient portions of the Wood case, including its analysis of the previous cases, as follows:

"One Thomas Moylan retained Wood to draft plans for the erection of two sections of buildings, each section to contain 110 apartments, in Woburn. After acceptance of the plans by Moylan they were filed with the building department of Woburn and approved. Filing was required in order to obtain a building permit. Moylan then commenced erection of one of the two sections. He and Wood had entered into an agreement under the terms of which Wood retained "all . . . (its) property rights, title and interest to the said plans for all times." Moylan employed the defendant Portugal to supervise construction of the building in accordance with the plans. About the same time the defendant Skene desired to erect on land owned by him in Norwood apartment houses similar to those of Moylan. As the result of a conspiracy between Skene and Portugal, Portugal left Moylan's employ, entered that of Skene, and took with him to Skene plans of the Woburn buildings. Other defendants, the Wallaces, organized a real estate trust under the name of Windsor Gardens Co. of Norwood, Massachusetts. The trust bought Skene's Norwood land. Skene transmitted the plans to the Wallaces who in turn gave them to the defendants, Alonzo B. Reed, Inc. and its employee Vincent Sullivan, to be copied. Reed's name and that of Sullivan were affixed to the copied plans. plans were presented to the building commissioner of Norwood and to others. In sum, Wood's plans were copied and are being or were used to construct in Norwood buildings identical in design and specifications to the Woburn buildings being erected.1

Wood did not resort to statutory copyright, and we are concerned solely with an examination of its rights under the common law. Common law copyright exists in this Commonwealth. "That the right of property which an author has in his work continues until by

¹ Neither the substitute bill nor the original bill states how close the first section of the Woburn project was to completion at the time the plans were copied by some of the defendants. We shall assume a total completion.

publication a right to their use has been conferred upon or dedicated to the public, has never been disputed." Tompkins v. Halleck, 133 Mass. 32, 35. See F. W. Dodge Co. v Construction Information Co. 183 Mass. 62, 63-65; Baker v. Libbie, 210 Mass. 599, 604." * * * *

"The princial issue in dispute is whether Wood lost whatever common law rights it had in its plans (1) when they were filed with the Woburn building department, or (2) when Moylan constructed a building from them. We deal with a matter of first impression in this Commonwealth. Only six cases are in point from other jurisdictions, none by a court of last resort. They are in conflict and so is such literature as exists on the subject.

The Reported Cases.

The first of the reported cases is Gendell v. Orr, 13 Phila. 191 (Pa. Common Pleas), decided in 1879. An architect and builder erected a porch "of a new and novel design and artistic beauty" (p. 191) along the front of his house, which stood bordering a highway. Later he sough to enjoin the construction of copies of his porch. The court held that the completion of such a design and its exposure to public gaze for three years constituted a general publication of the work.

There followed in 1903, Wright v. Eisle, 86 App. Div. N. Y.) 356. An architect had prepared plans for a private residence which were "duly filed with the building department of the city of Mount Vernon' (p. 357). After the residence was built, the defendant sought to procure a duplicate set of plans from the architect. He declined to meet the architect's price and thereafter retained a third party whose plans led to the erection of a building "conforming substantially" p. 357) to the first residence. The architect sought

recovery for the value of the second set of plans. The New York court held that when the architect had filed the plans in a public office, he had "published his work to the world" (p. 358) and lost his exclusive right to them.

In Kurfiss v. Cowherd, 233 Mo.App. 397 (1938), an architect drew plans to modernize an old house. As modernized the house was opened to public inspection. The pleadings indicate that the defendants made copies of the plans and used them in the construction of other houses. The original plans were not filed in a public office. It was held that "this unrestricted exhibition" (p. 408) of the modernized house was a publication of the plans.

In 1959, on the authority of Wright v. Eisle, supra, the Supreme Court of New York held that the filing of plans with a building department in connection with the erection of one house precluded the architect from recovery of compensation from one defendant who erected additional houses from the same plans which came to him from his codefendant for whom the first house had been built. Tumey v. Little, 18 Misc. 2d (N.Y.) 462.

The earlier cases were reviewed in an extended dictum in DeSilva Constr. Corp. v. Herrald, 213 F. Supp. 184 (M.D. Fla. 1962). The Court was of opinion that the filing of plans with a building department in order to obtain a construction permit was a publication that terminated the common law copyright (pp. 194-195). But the court stated that a completion and exhibition of the building did not constitute such a publication of the plans (pp. 195-196).

The final case, Smith v. Paul, 174 Cal. App.2d 744

(1959), differs from those already discussed. Smith was not a licensed architect but was "in the business of designing homes" (p. 746). He brought an action against the owner of a house and the contractor who built it on the ground that the plans employed in its construction had been drawn by him for a third person. The plans had been originally filed in a county office as required by law in order to obtain a building permit, and a house had been constructed from them. Smith had preserved his ownership in the plans in his contract with his client. Paul had copied them. court held that there had been only a limited publication of the plans and hence that the designer had not lost his common law copyright in them. It pointed out that "(t) he purpose of the requirement of filing the plans in a government office is to protect the public from unsafe construction—not to take away from the architect his common-law property rights The architect derives no profit from the deposit of his plans with the building department. He does not thereby sell his work and has no intention of dedicating it to the public" (p.750). The court emphasized that a filing was necessary in order to build. The court also held that a mere viewing of the house by guests of the owner, limited in number, constituted no general publication of the plans. The reasoning was that while exhibition of the exterior to the public might cause a loss of the common law copyright to the exterior design, "it . . . (was) not a general publication of the detailed plans themselves" (p. 758).

⁴ The common law copyright which exists by virtue of the case law in this Commonwealth has been codified in California. Cal. Civil Code, Sec. 980-985.

General and Limited Publication.

The concepts of general and limited publication alluded to in Smith v. Paul, supra, were defined in the leading case of Werckmeister v. American Lithographic Co. 134 Fed. 321, 326 (2d Cir.). Only a general publication terminates a common law copyright. It is "such a disclosure, communication, circulation, exhibition, or distribution of the subject of copyright, tendered or given to one or more members of the general public, as implies an abandonment of the right of copyright or its dedication to the public" (p. 326). A limited publication is "one which communicates a knowledge of its contents under conditions expressly or impliedly precluding its dedication to the public" (p. 324). Further, to be general a publication must be such " '. . . as to justify the belief that it took place with the intention of rendering . . . (the) work common propertv.'" American Tobacco Co. v. Werckmister, 207 U. S. 284, 299-300. Continental Cas. Co. v. Beardsley, 253 F.2d 702, 707 (2d Cir.) cert.den. 358 U.S. 816. See White v. Kimmell, 193 F.2d 744, 747 (9th Cir.). As more recently stated, "a . . . publication which communicates the contents of a manuscript to a definitely selected group and for a limited purpose, and without the right of diffusion, reproduction, distribution or sale, is considered a 'limited publication,' which does not result in loss of the author's common-law right to his manuscript, but . . . the circulation must be restricted both as to persons and purpose, or it cannot be called a private or limited publication." White v. Kimmell, supra, 746-747. American Visuals Corp. v. Holland, 239 F.2d 740, 744 (2d Cir.). tal Cas. Co. v Beardsley, supra, 706-707. While the test is properly one of intention, it is clear that the unexpressed, subjective intention of the creator cannot be allowed to govern (see National Comic Publications, Inc. v. Fawcett Publications, Inc. 191 F.2d 594, 598 (2d Cir.)); rather the implications of his outward actions to the reasonable ousider are controlling.

The Federal cases thus recognize fully that there may be a fairly substantial but limited distribution of material susceptible of statutory copyright without putting the material in the public domain and without forfeiture of the author's common law copyright in it. It remains to determine whether a general publication has occurred here."

* * In the light of what has been said, we hold that the filing requirement and G. L. c 66, 10, give the public the right to inspect and, if necessary, to copy the filed plans for purposes reasonably related to the objectives behind the filing requirement, for example, to determine whether a building constructed in accordance with plans will comply with zoning and safety laws. That right does not extend to making copies which will impair the architect's common law copyright and property in the plans. It is not the purpose of the filing requirement to facilitate and permit architectural plagiarism, or enable one to obtain free of charge the benefit of another's work and thus "to reap where it has not sown." International News Serv. v. Associated Press. 248 U. S. 215, 239.

We conclude that the public filing of plans in the circumstances alleged is only a limited publication of them. No objective intention to make a general publication appears.

Construction of a Building

We next consider whether the completion and exposure of the building which is the product of the plans constitutes such a general publication as will justify a copying of the plans. Gendell v. Orr. 13 Phila. 191 (Pa. Common Pleas), Wright v. Eisle, 86 App. Div. (N. Y.) 356 (dictum), and Kurfiss v. Cowherd, 233 Mo. App. 397, suggest that it does. In Kurfiss v. Cowherd, supra, a house was modernized in accordance with plans and thereafter opened to general public inspection. The court reasoned although "it was not intended that the public could or would take measurements . . . (of the house) . . . the facts remain that there were no restrictions to keep any one from so doing" (233 Mo. App. at 408), and that there had been a general publication of both the house and the plans. We regard the correct rule as having been suggested by Tabor v. Hoffman, 118 N. Y. 30. In that case a repairman made copies of the construction patterns used in the manufacture of a pump. The issue was "whether there is a secret in the patterns that yet remains a secret, although the pump has been given to the world" (p. 35). The court held that "the patterns were a secret device that were not disclosed by the publication of the pump . . . While the defendant could lawfully copy the pump, because it had been published to the world, he could not lawfully copy the patterns because they had not been published, but were still, in every sense, the property of the plaintiff, who owned not only the material substance, but also the discovery which they embodied" (p. 37). See Tompkins v. Halleck, 133 Mass. 32,36. The rule of Tabor v. Hoffman, supra, can be, in our opinion, soundly extended to the facts in this case. It has been so extended in Smith v. Paul, 174 Cal. App. 2d 744, 750: "(T) he fact that a building is built from the plans and is open to the gaze of the public . . . may be a publication of the general design or idea of the building but not a publication of the exact plans whereby another may without effort other than that of tracing the work of the architect completely duplicate the latter's effort."

It is contended that Smith v. Paul, supra, cannot serve as a guide in resolving this case because access there to a private home afforded to a limited number of people was quite different from access to the Woburn apartments afforded to the general public. The argument is inapposite: "An architectural plan is a technical writing. It is capable of being copied only by similar technical writings, that is, by other plans, etc. A structure is the result of plans, not a copy of them. It follows that building a structure and opening it to public gaze cannot be a publication of its plans." Katz, supra, at 236. See White-Smith Music Publishing Co. v. Apollo Co. 209 U. S. 1, 17-18; Nimmer on Copyright, 57.3.

Observation or measurement of the exterior and the interior of a completed building can hardly be said to approach an accurate copy of a set of plans. We do not suggest that a common law copyright in the plans is infringed by a drawing made from observation of the interior or exterior of the buildings. Such a doctrine could lead only to a multiplicity of law suits between parties who had erected successively structures

¹¹ A completed structure is no more a copy than the exhibition of an uncopyrighted moving picture film, the performance of an uncopyrighted radio script, or the broadcast of an uncopyrighted radio script, all of which acts have been held not to dedicate the contents to the public. (citations omitted.)" Smith v. Paul, supra, at 755. See also Nimmer, Copyright Publication, 56 Cal. L. R. 185, 197: "(A) sine qua non of publication should be the acquisition by members of the public of a possessory interest in tangible copies of the work in question."

of somewhat similar design. On the other hand, the right fully to reproduce plans is a far more substantial aid to a builder unwilling to pay for architectural services than the right to make sketches or drawings of a completed structure.

We thus hold that the construction of the building from the plans constitutes no publication of them at all.

We are of the opinion that the availability of Federal copyright protection for published material (17 U.S.C. [1858]) does not require the abandonment of the separate protection afforded to unpublished material by the common law. See F. W. Dodge Co. v. Construction Information Co. 183 Mass. 62, 66. The Federal cases are consistent with this view. And, as previously indicated, Congress has not enjoined such an abandonment upon the states. 17 U. S. C. 2 (1958). It would be burdensome to require statutory copyright of architectural plans not intended to be placed in the public domain as a condition of preserving property rights in them."

As the court in the Wood case pointed out, all previous cases had been decided in courts of inferior jurisdiction. While their holdings are not to be dismissed without examination, in no case should they be given the weight of the Wood case, which was decided by the highest court of the State of Massachusetts with full opportunity to examine, in retrospect, all previous case law, together with all the legal and public policy arguments which had been made. It was the considered opinion of the Massachusetts court that, despite a number of contrary early holdings, the trend of the law and the better, more equitable view favored protection of the architect's common law copyrights in his plans.

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