1967

Del S. Ashworth and Joe H. Ashworth, D/B/A  
Ashworth Architects, A Partnership v. Gene Glover,  
D/B/A Genie Boys : Brief of Respondent

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action to recover general and punitive damages for alleged infringement of a common law copyright.

### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The court entered judgment for defendant-respondent, No Cause of Action. (R.51.)

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-Appellants seek reversal of the decision or a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties will be referred to as they appear in the lower court.

Plaintiffs are licensed architects and instituted this action to recover damages for the alleged unauthorized copying by defendant of a set of their architectural plans. Plaintiffs claim the set of plans was protected by a common law copyright and the act of defendant was an infringement of their rights. Defendant admitted copying the plans but denied plaintiffs were entitled to damages for two reasons. First, any copyright had been lost by the general publication by the architects of their plans and, second, if the plans were protected by a copyright, the particular set which defendant examined and took information from did not belong to the plaintiffs but was the property of a third party.

The plaintiff Del S. Ashworth testified that during the year 1960 Ashworth Architects were employed by Allen's Products Company to prepare plans and specifications required for the construction of a drive-in restaurant to be built in American Fork, Utah. (TR. 40-42). [The same plans were used during the year 1962 for the construction of a similar drive-in at Springville, Utah.] The witness testified that to complete their contract of

employment it would have been necessary to have printed additional copies of their plans. The copies were distributed in the following manner:

(a) One copy was filed with the American Fork Zoning Department to secure a building permit. (TR. 64, 78).

(b) Approximately 50 copies were distributed to the building contractors for both the American Fork and Springville projects. Each contractor paid a \$25.00 deposit which plaintiffs forfeited if the contractor desired to keep the plans. (TR. 58).

(c) One copy to the client, Allen's Products Company. (TR. 55).

(d) One copy to the Springville Zoning Department to secure a building permit.

Mr. Owen G. Richardson, Manager of the American Fork Drive-In appeared as a witness who testified he was acquainted with defendant and during the spring of 1962 permitted defendant to examine the set of plans kept in the office. The manager testified he did not restrict defendant as to the use of the plans. (TR. 9-18).

Defendant appeared as a witness and acknowledged receiving the plans from the manager, Richardson, and admitted making notes from them. (TR. 130-32). He also testified he used some of the information in the construction of his own drive-in restaurant, but claimed there is considerable difference between the two structures. Defendant denied the existence of any agreement between

himself and Richardson whereby Richardson would receive an interest in defendant's drive-in for allowing him to see the plans. (TR. 97).

This case was tried to the court without a jury, and the court made findings of fact and conclusions of law and awarded judgment to defendant, No Cause of Action. Plaintiff has appealed from said judgment.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE ISSUES IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT.

As previously stated, plaintiffs claim the architectural plans which they prepared for their client, Allen's Products Company, were protected by a common law copyright. Plaintiffs further claim there was an infringement of this copyright by defendant when he examined and copied the plans.

This is a case of first impression in this State. The existence of a common law copyright has been recognized in the few limited decisions on the subject. All of these authorities hold, however, that such a copyright may be lost if there has been a general publication of the plans by the architect. This legal principle is stated in 5 Am. Jr. 2d, Architects, Sec. 10 P. 672 in the following language:

“It is well settled at common law that an author or creator of a literary or intellectual production

has a property right thereto which exists independently of and notwithstanding copyright statutes and entitles him to the exclusive use of his production before publication, such property right being commonly referred to as a common-law copyright. A few courts, to varying degrees, have recognized that these principles apply to architects and architectural plans, drawings, or designs. But a common-law copyright may be lost by a general, as distinguished from a limited, publication thereof, and therefore the question arises as to what constitutes a publication of architectural plans, drawings, or designs so as to result in the loss of a common-law copyright. There is authority to the effect that exposure of a house to public view was a publication which destroyed an architect's common-law copyright to the plans or design. In other instances, the filing of architect's plans with a building department to obtain permission to build has been held to be a publication resulting in the loss of the common-law copyright. \* \* \* "

See also 77 A.L.R. 2d, 1036.

In the recent case of *Read v. Turner*, 48 Cal. Rep. 919, 924 the court in reversing a judgment in favor of the architect for alleged infringement of his copyright set forth the standards to be used in determining whether there has been a limited or general publication of plans. The court stated:

“Factors to be considered in determining whether a publication is general or limited are the intention of the owner, viz, whether his acts of publication are indicative of an intent that the subject of the copyright may be used by the

general public; the character of the communication or exhibition affecting the publication; the nature of the subject of the copyright as relating to the method of communication or exhibition in question; and the nature of the right protected. To ascertain the intention of the owner, an objective rather than a subjective test is applied. '(T)he court will look to what he does rather than to what he claims he intended. The implications of his outward actions to the reasonable outsider are controlling.' "

In establishing this intent, courts have considered as material, evidence relative to the distribution which may have been made of the plans. In the case of *Shanahan v. Macco*, 36 Cal. Rep. 584, the court, in holding there was a general publication, stated as follows:

"Mr. Shanahan testified there were approximately 40 categories of subcontractors involved in construction of each of their tracts, and that at least two or three, and sometimes five or six, bids were received in each category before a contract was awarded. Each of the several bidding subcontractors in each of these 40 categories examined the subject plans in detail, and approximately 25 of the successful bidders at each of plaintiffs five tracts received sets of the detailed plans. The subcontractors who received these plans were requested, when they began work, to return them when the work was finished. Plaintiffs, however, did not follow up at the completion of the work to obtain compliance with this request, and never reported the loss of any of these plans. Plaintiffs also submitted their plans to some five financing institutions, none of which returned them."

Also at page 589:

“Here the architect limited the use of his plans, both as to the persons allowed to use the work (the Carrs and their agent the builders) and to the use which such persons might make of the work (the construction of one house). This limitation as to persons and use has been held to be the test of a limited publication.”

Another factor which the courts have considered material in determining the intent of the architect involves the agreement between the architect and his client. In the case of *Smith v. Paul*, 174 Cal. App. 2d 744, 345 P. 2d 546, 77 A.L.R. 2d 1036, the court reversed the trial court which found there was no publication by the architect, but in so ruling, made the following observation concerning the contract of employment:

“The decision in the Wright case is weakened somewhat by the fact \* \* \* that the plaintiff architect had transferred to the person for whom he had prepared the plans, all property rights therein, *whereas in our case the plaintiff architect retained their ownership.*”

See also *Edgar H. Wood Associates, Inc., v. Skeen, et al.*, 197 N.E. 2d 886:

“In both New York cases, it appears that a further reason for denying recovery was the absence of an agreement between the architect and his client that the ownership of the plans should not pass to the client by virtue of the commission. The substitute bill before us alleges that Wood specifically retained its property rights in the plans in its agreement with Moylan.”

Defendant respectfully submits that in applying the foregoing principles to the case at bar, it is clear the trial court correctly entered a judgment in favor of defendant.

Consider the conduct of these plaintiffs in dealing with their architectural plans prior to the alleged infringement by defendant.

*First*, plaintiffs failed to indicate on the plans the same were protected by a copyright.

*Second*, within a two year period approximately fifty sets were distributed to building contractors who were permitted to keep them by forfeiting a \$25.00 deposit.

*Third*, in the contract of employment plaintiffs did not retain title or ownership to the plans.

*Fourth*, plaintiffs permitted their client to use the same plans for the construction of a second drive-in at Springville, and did not demand or receive the customary architectural fee.

*Fifth*, copies were filed with the zoning departments in the cities of American Fork and Springville, Utah.

*Sixth*, a copy was given to the client Allen's Products Company.

*Seventh*, no restrictions upon either the building contractors or the client were imposed as to the use they could make of the plans.

We submit, that under the "objective test" the foregoing actions on the part of plaintiffs are indicative of

an intent that the subject matter of their plans may be used by the general public. There is not one bit of evidence in this record, other than their own statements, which would prove to the contrary. While they are now claiming these plans were their own property, they admitted the client used them without paying any fee. The evidence also shows that building contractors, with the necessary fee of \$25.00, received the plans, without restriction, and could keep them for that price. If the plaintiffs were so desirous of protecting the subject matter of these plans why wouldn't they attempt by some means to notify the contractors of this fact, and restrict the use to be made of them. The plaintiffs have failed to meet the requirements of the "objective test." They should not be allowed to complain if someone from the general public copied information from the plans.

In view of the foregoing the trial court properly found the issues in favor of the defendant and against plaintiffs.

## POINT II

THE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS EXAMINED BY DEFENDANT WERE NOT THE PROPERTY OF PLAINTIFFS.

Without abandoning the argument under Point I of this brief, defendant submits that regardless of the application of the law pertaining to common law copyrights, plaintiffs are still not entitled to be awarded judgment on the facts of this case.

As previously stated, the evidence was to the effect that plaintiffs, after completion of the plans, delivered a set to their client, Allen's Products Company, and received payment of their fee in full. This set of plans was then placed in the office of the American Fork Drive-in and as such came under the supervision and control of the manager, Richardson. Richardson testified he gave this set of plans to defendant and permitted him to examine them without restriction.

In view of the foregoing evidence, it is defendant's position that the plans which he saw and copied belonged to Allen's Products Company and not to these plaintiffs. It is our position that it would be the same situation if defendant had been granted the same opportunity by one of the general contractors who purchased a set of the plans from plaintiffs.

In their brief, plaintiffs claim that the act of Richardson in giving the plans to defendant was a violation of his authority and bordered upon a criminal act which entitled plaintiffs to be awarded punitive damages. There is no evidence to support such a claim. Plaintiffs did not introduce any testimony by any representative of Allen's Products Company that Richardson was not authorized to permit someone to examine these plans. Plaintiffs have simply failed in their proof on this point and they cannot prove a substantive matter of this kind by inference.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, defendant respectfully submits that the evidence clearly establishes and supports the decision of the trial court that any alleged copyright plaintiffs may have had in and to their plans has been lost by their subsequent conduct. In addition, the evidence clearly supports the trial court's finding that the set of plans which defendant examined was not the property of plaintiffs. The decision of the trial court on both fact and law should be affirmed.